IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISIONPRIVATE 

Susan Brewster, on her own behalf and
)

As Next Friend of Samantha Brown,

)

a minor, Aggrieved Persons,


)

                                   



) 
Case No.:
            

Plaintiff
         
)   

       v.                          


)
Judge:
                                   



)


Demetra Vlahakis,

 

)
Magistrate Judge:
                   




) 
             

Defendant

)
Plaintiff demands 






)
TRIAL BY JURY
COMPLAINT
The Plaintiff, Susan Brewster (hereafter “Brewster”, by and through her attorneys, Leslie V. Matlaw, F. Willis Caruso, and Senior Law Students of The John Marshall Law School Fair Housing Clinic, complains of Defendant Demetra Vlahakis (hereafter “Vlahakis”), as follows:
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1. This action arises under 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq.. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a), (b), and (c) and 42 U.S.C. § 3617.
2. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by 42 U.S.C. § 3613(a). 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 28 U.S.C. § 2201, and 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(4).
3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1291(b) and (c) because at the times relevant hereto, acts alleged herein took place and/or the parties were located in and worked and/or did business in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division.
PARTIES
4.  Brewster at all times relevant to the allegations contained herein, resided in the Northern District of Illinois.

5.  BREWSTER is the mother of Samantha Brown, who, at the time of the incident of discrimination, was a sixteen-year-old girl, and who, at all times relevant to the allegations contained herein, resided in the Northern District of Illinois.
6. VLAHAKIS at all times relevant to the allegations contained herein, resided in the Northern District of Illinois.
7. VLAHAKIS at all times relevant to the allegations contained herein, owned, managed, and lived in a multiple unit apartment building located at 8514 West Rascher, Chicago, Illinois (hereafter, the “Subject Property”).

FACTS
General Factual Background
8. Beginning in March, 2002, Cecilia and David Levin (hereafter, the “Levins”), the then-tenants of the Unit (hereafter, the “Subject Unit”), informed VLAHAKIS that they had purchased a house and had to vacate the Subject Unit.
9. The Levins purchased an advertisement in the Chicago Tribune in their attempt to find a substitute tenant for VLAHAKIS.

10. Throughout March and April, the Levins presented several prospective tenants to VLAHAKIS, who refused to rent the Subject Unit to them because of the Presence of Children under age 18 in their households.

11. VLAHAKIS instructed the Levins that any prospective tenants for the Subject Unit could have no children or teenagers. 
12. The Levins were unable to find any prospective tenants who did not have children.

13. BREWSTER and her daughter were living under circumstances that had become increasingly stressful.  As a result, BREWSTER sought to move by the end of April, 2002.

14. BREWSTER learned of the Subject Unit on or about April 1, 2002, through the Levins’ Chicago Tribune advertisement.
15. Soon thereafter, BREWSTER viewed the Subject Unit and expressed her interest in the Subject Unit to the Levins, which in part was due to its proximity to her work and its affordability.
16. In response to BREWSTER’S enthusiasm, the Levins asked VLAHAKIS to come meet BREWSTER.

17. VLAHAKIS spoke to BREWSTER about the Subject Unit and then asked who would be living in the Subject Unit.  BREWSTER responded that the Subject Unit would be for her and her 16-year-old daughter.

18. VLAHAKIS immediately replied that she could not rent to BREWSTER because she had previously had problems with teenagers. 
19. After BREWSTER explained that her daughter was well-behaved, went to church, and did not cause problems, VLAHAKIS told BREWSTER to leave her contact information with Cecilia Levin. VLAHAKIS then stated that even if she agreed to rent the Subject Unit to BREWSTER, she would terminate BREWSTER’S tenancy at the first sight of any problems or words to that effect. 

20. After BREWSTER left, VLAHAKIS screamed at the Levins that she did not want children living at the Subject Property and asked why the Levins continued to show the Subject Unit to Families with Children when she had told them not to do so.
21. BREWSTER departed from the Subject Property with the belief that VLAHAKIS did not want her to live there and believed that even if she were able to convince VLAHAKIS to rent her the Subject Unit, she would make BREWSTER and her daughter’s lives miserable.
22. BREWSTER later learned that VLAHAKIS had instructed the Levins to present to her only prospective tenants without children or teenagers. This occurred on or about April 20, 2002, when Mrs. Levin telephoned BREWSTER, asking if she was still interested in the Subject Unit. By this time, BREWSTER had secured a substitute unit.
23. The Subject Unit was rented to two single women in July of 2002.
24. BREWSTER, in fact, had encountered much difficulty locating a suitable substitute apartment within the City of Chicago by the end of the April, 2002. The only unit she could locate with availability by the end of April, 2002 was more expensive; farther from her job than the Subject Unit; located in suburban Des Plaines; had less desirable amenities; and was more costly.
25. Having to move outside of the City of Chicago caused BREWSTER’S daughter to lose a valuable educational opportunity:   SAMANTHA BROWN attended Walter Payton High School, a highly-regarded Chicago Public School which requires Chicago residency.
26. On August 19, 2002, BREWSTER filed a written complaint with the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (hereafter, “HUD”), alleging that VLAHAKIS discriminated against her on the basis of her Familial Status in the rental of a dwelling in violation of the Fair Housing Act.
27. At the conclusion of its investigation, HUD determined that Reasonable Cause exists to believe that a discriminatory housing practice has occurred in this case, and has issued its own Charge of Discrimination.
28. On April 5, 2004, Plaintiff timely elected her case to be heard in this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 3612(o).
FIRST CLAIM
Refusal to Rent
29.  Brewster repeats and re-alleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-28 as her Paragraph 29.
30. VLAHAKIS has intentionally and with careless and reckless disregard for her civil rights, discriminated against  BREWSTER and her daughter because of Familial Status, in violation of 42 U.S.C. Sec. 3604(a).
31. VLAHAKIS above-described discriminatory treatment and refusal to deal with BREWSTER and her daughter in connection with the sale of a dwelling has caused them economic injury, consequential damages, and personal harm. 
SECOND CLAIM

Discrimination in the Terms and Conditions or Residency
32. Brewster repeats and re-alleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-28 as her Paragraph 32.
33. VLAHAKIS has intentionally and with careless and reckless disregard for her civil rights, discriminated against BREWSTER and her daughter because of Familial Status, in violation of 42 U.S.C. Sec. 3604(b).

34. VLAHAKIS’ above-described discriminatory treatment and refusal to deal with . BREWSTER and her daughter in connection with the sale of a dwelling has caused them economic injury, consequential damages, and personal harm.
THIRD CLAIM

Discriminatory Statements Made With Respect to Rental
35.  Brewster repeats and re-alleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-28 as her Paragraph 35. 
36. VLAHAKIS has intentionally and with careless and reckless disregard for her civil rights, discriminated against  Brewster and her daughter because of Familial Status, in violation of 42 U.S.C. Sec. 3604(c).

37. VLAHAKIS’ above-described discriminatory treatment and refusal to deal with BREWSTER and her daughter in connection with the sale of a dwelling has caused them economic injury, consequential damages, and personal harm.
FOURTH CLAIM

Negligence

38. BREWSTER repeats and re-alleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-28 as her Paragraph 38.

39. VLAHAKIS, negligently in refusing to rent -- or negotiate for the rental of -- the Subject Unit, has negligently and with careless and reckless disregard for her civil rights, discriminated against BREWSTER because of her Familial Status, in violation of 42 U.S.C. §3604(a).

40. VLAHAKIS, in her outright refusal of BREWSTER, negligently and with careless and reckless disregard for her civil rights, made the Subject Unit Otherwise Unavailable to Families with Children, including Plaintiff’s family, in violation of 42 U.S.C. §3604(a).   

41. VLAHAKIS’ above-described negligent discriminatory treatment has caused BREWSTER economic injury, consequential damages, and personal harm. 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Wherefore, Plaintiff prays:

a. That the Court declare the actions of  VLAHAKIS complained of herein to be in violation of the Fair Housing Act of 1968, as amended;
b. That VLAHAKIS be permanently enjoined from discriminating on the basis of Familial Status against any persons in violation of the Fair Housing Act of 1968;

c. That VLAHAKIS be ordered to:
(i) Utilize the phrase “Equal Housing Opportunity” in all of her print advertisements, “For Rent” signs, and all other forms of solicitation for tenants, including any oral statements;   

(ii) Promulgate and implement a written non-discrimination policy for all of their housing-related interactions and dealings with the general public as well as with brokers, lenders and other housing professionals;

(iii) Prominently post in their rental propert(ies) in a place which can readily be viewed by all tenants, management staff, employees and prospective renters, Fair Housing notices which inform viewers of their rights under the Fair Housing Act and how they may seek judicial relief and have HUD investigate and seek redress for any suspected violation thereof;

d. That appropriate compensatory and punitive damages be awarded to BREWSTER for discrimination against her and her daughter and against VLAHAKIS for the economic loss, humiliation, embarrassment, physical and emotional distress and mental anguish caused by her intentionally discriminatory acts and for VLAHAKIS’ violation of the Fair Housing Act of 1968;
e. And that BREWSTER be awarded such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

JURY DEMAND
Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff Demands a trial 
   by jury of all issues which may be tried in the matter.
Respectfully Submitted, Plaintiff Susan Brewster

By:
_______________________________________

One of Her Attorneys

Leslie V. Matlaw, P. C.
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